

Transforming Cancer Care and the Role of Payment Reform

Lessons from the New Mexico Cancer Center

The MERKIN SERIES on INNOVATION in CARE DELIVERY

AUGUST 2014

B | ENGELBERG CENTER for Health Care Reform at BROOKINGS

AUTHORS

Darshak Sanghavi Kavita Patel Kate Samuels Meaghan George Frank McStay Andrea Thoumi Rio Hart Mark McClellan

The authors would also like to acknowledge Alice M. Rivlin, Michelle Shaljian, Sara Bencic, Sara Bleiberg and Jeffrey Nadel for their contributions and review of this paper.

We also thank **Dr. Richard Merkin** and **The Merkin Family Foundation** for their support of this publication, and for supporting the Engelberg Center's leadership of innovations in care delivery and payment reform through the Merkin Initiative on Payment Reform and Clinical Leadership.

2

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank the following individuals for participating in interviews during the research process for this paper.

Jose Avitia, MD Medical Oncologist New Mexico Cancer Center

Vicki Bolton Cancer Patient

Lauren Cates, MHA, MBA Director, Consumer Convenience & Market Development Presbyterian Healthcare Services

Edward Cazzola, MD Internist, New Mexico Cancer Center

Nina Chavez, MBA SPHR Director of Operations and HR New Mexico Cancer Center

Matthew Fontana, MD Vice President and Chief Medical Officer Health Care Service Corporation

John Fowler Director of IT New Mexico Cancer Center

Tami Graham Director, Global Benefits Strategy Intel Corporation

Susan Guo, MD Radiation Oncologist New Mexico Cancer Center

Barbara Haasis, RN CCRN Senior Clinical Lead Alternative Payment Programs Florida Blue

Barbara McAneny, MD CEO, New Mexico Cancer Center

Govardhanan Nagaiah, MD Medical Oncologist New Mexico Cancer Center Julie Nickerson, MBA Director of Finance New Mexico Cancer Center

Ray Parzik Consultant, Delivery Business Development Florida Blue

Steve Quesada, RPH Pharmacy Manager New Mexico Cancer Center

Sharon Richardson, BSN Nursing Manager New Mexico Cancer Center

Laura Stevens Program Director and CIO Innovative Oncology Business Solutions

Pattie Torres, MT Laboratory and Patient Services Manager New Mexico Cancer Center

Jill Towns Senior Training Specialist Innovative Oncology Business Solutions

Karen Vigil, LPN Research Clinical Coordinator New Mexico Cancer Center

Teresa Waters, PhD Professor of Preventative Medicine University of Tennessee

Linda Wedeen NMCC Foundation Executive Director New Mexico Cancer Center

Glen Wilson, MD Radiologist New Mexico Cancer Center

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIVING WITH CANCER: VICKY'S STORY	5
PART I: INTRODUCTION	6
CARE AND COST CHALLENGES	7
Improved Health Outcomes that Contribute to Unavoidable Costs	7
Suboptimal Care that Contributes to Avoidable Costs	8
DATA AND MEASUREMENTS	10
PART II: CARE REDESIGN AND THE CREATION OF THE COMMUNITY ONCOLOGY MEDICAL HOME	12
CATALYST FOR CHANGE	12
Working within New Mexico Cancer Center	12
Practice Environment and Local Health Care Market	12
Working in collaboration with others	13
OVERVIEW OF THE COME HOME PROGRAM	15
Target Population	15
Projected Savings	16
Breakdown of COME HOME Program Expenditures	16
CARE REDESIGN STRATEGY AT NMCC: REINVENTING PATIENT-CENTERED CANCER	17
Site of Care Reforms	18
Team-Based Care	19
Improved Decision Support	20
Collecting and using data	21
ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION FOR SUSTAINING HIGH-QUALITY CARE	22
Patient	22
Clinicians	23
Local Network of Providers	23
PART III: PAYMENT REFORM	24
OVERVIEW OF CURRENT CANCER CARE FUNDING	24
ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT MODELS	25
Clinical Pathways	25
Patient-Centered Oncology Medical Home	26
Accountable Care Organizations	28
Bundled Payments	29
PART IV: RECOMMENDATIONS, LESSONS LEARNED AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS	30
RECOMMENDATIONS	て1
LESSONS LEARNED	JL
	32
APPENDIX A: A MODEL FOR APPLYING REFORM TO YOUR OWN ORGANIZATION	34

LIVING WITH CANCER: VICKY'S STORY



Vicky Bolton is a 58 year-old medical legal coordinator who lives in Albuquerque, New Mexico. A widower of 20 years, Vicki has three children and nine grandchildren. She is also a Stage 4 adenocarcinoma lung cancer survivor who receives treatment at New Mexico Cancer Center (NMCC) in Albuquerque. She was previously diagnosed with adult onset asthma 14 years ago, but her pain and breathing problems became progressively worse.

Diagnosis

Three years after her asthma diagnosis, Vicky returned to her primary care provider about the pain in her lungs and was immediately referred her to a pulmonologist for biopsy. The pulmonologist was unable to perform the biopsy because of concerns of fluid in the lungs and referred her to a vascular surgeon. The surgeon admitted her to the hospital to perform the biopsy and found that half of the lung was blocked from fluid and cancer, which had metastasized. The surgeon referred Vicky to NMCC and an oncologist met her in the surgery ward.

After starting their relationship 11 years ago, Vicky has been consistently receiving treatment at NMCC. In 2003 she started chemotherapy first with paclitaxel (Taxol) and then carboplatin, but was found to be allergic to both. Her oncologist switched her to gemcitabine (Gemzar), but complications with that chemotherapy agent culminated with a hospitalization in 2006 following kidney failure. Since 2006 Vicky has not been hospitalized, and only had to go to the emergency department or urgent care a few times for breathing problems. She has undergone additional chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and multiple rounds of injectable antibiotics, but all of these services were provided at NMCC's facilities instead of in a hospital.

Vicky's Experience

NMCC provides all of Vicky's care at one location, from lab and x-ray testing to an internal medicine doctor for her recent stomach problems. The extended hours clinic has allowed her to get care outside of work hours, so that she can live with cancer rather than plan around it. In the past six months alone, NMCC prevented Vicky from being hospitalized on three occasions:

- In December 2013 she became acutely ill. Although she was out of work for more than a week, she was able to receive all her treatment at NMCC and go home in the evenings and be with her family
- In February 2014 she was diagnosed with bi-lateral deep vein thrombosis, one of which was infected. On the same day NMCC infused her with daily antibiotics as an outpatient, allowing her to remain in the comfort of her home overnight.
- In April 2014 she become ill on a Saturday and called NMCC's extended hours clinic. On the same day, they performed lab work and radiology studies, and infused medications intravenously. NMCC continued to treat her in the evenings after work, allowing Vicky to attend her company's annual meeting that week. During this time, Vicky missed no work days.

5

PART I: INTRODUCTION



According to the National Cancer Institute there are more than 13 million people living with cancer in the United States; it is the second leading cause of death in the U.S.¹ It is expected that 41% of Americans will be diagnosed with cancer at some point during their lives. More than 1.6 million new cases of cancer will be diagnosed in 2014; a nearly 22% increase over the last decade.²

Cancer care is also expensive. In 2010 it accounted for \$125 billion in health care spending and is expected to cost at least \$158 billion by 2020, due to population increase.³ In 2011 Medicare alone spent nearly \$35 billion in fee-for-service (FFS) payments for cancer care, representing almost 9% of all Medicare FFS payments overall.⁴

13 MILLION Americans are living with cancer

41% of Americans will be diagnosed with cancer at some point in their lives.

\$125 BILLION: Medical cost of cancer in **2010** Broadly speaking, problems in complex clinical care fall into two categories: deficits in knowledge (for example, lack of any effective treatment for certain brain tumors) and deficits in execution (for example, failure to treat breast cancer with a standard-of-care protocol).⁵ Delivery reform seeks to find opportunity in the latter problem type. Considering cancer care through this lens, there are many opportunities to improve outcomes and potentially lower costs, including better coordination of care, eliminating duplication of services and reducing fragmentation of care.^{6,7,8} In addition, almost two-thirds of oncology revenue derives

from drug sales⁹, and pricing for drugs (calculated by the average sale price plus 6% profit for providers) may incentivize the use of the most expensive drugs rather than equally effective, lower-cost alternatives.

Promising approaches are being developed to deliver high quality care, improve the patient experience, and reduce costs for this condition and other chronic diseases. Care redesign strategies such as adopting team-based models, offering extended practice hours, providing triage to keep patients out of the emergency room, and implementing care pathways help providers address avoidable costs and maximize the value of care. Many of these strategies are not currently reimbursed in the FFS, volume-based payment system.

Consequently, much policy attention is focusing on payment reform. On the heels of the Affordable Care Act (ACA), and numerous quality and payment focused initiatives in the private sector, health care organizations need to enhance the competitiveness and efficiency of their system in the marketplace. Alternative payment models (APMs) such as Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs), bundled payments, and patient-centered oncology medical homes (PCOMH) are just a few of the initiatives supported by public and private payers to align care redesign and payment reform and encourage continuous improvement. This paper provides a comprehensive overview of the complex care associated with oncology and the alternate payment models which help support optimal care and encourage continuous improvement.

To support effective implementation of these strategies in practices throughout the country—including the identification of barriers and challenges—this case study examines the redesign of the New Mexico Cancer Center (NMCC) as one example of how a group of clinicians can implement change. This case study will focus on the care redesign model and potential payment reform options to sustain improvements at NMCC. With the aim to support the education of a clinical audience regarding how care innovations can be aligned with alternative payment models, this case will answer the following questions:

- What challenges or problems encouraged the organization to redesign cancer care?
- How did NMCC redesign care to improve quality, enhance the patient experience, and reduce costs?
- How can an organization prove they are improving quality and contract with a payer to maintain sustainability?
- How can alternative payment models sustain a community oncology medical home?

6

CARE AND COST CHALLENGES

The U.S. spent \$125 billion on cancer care in 2010.¹⁰ Patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy averaged \$111,000 per patient per year in total medical and pharmacy costs, with drugs accounting for about 25% of costs.¹¹ Compared with other conditions, patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy incur six times the annual cost of patients with diabetes and 26 times the cost of patients without cancer.¹² For patients themselves, the cost of care is prohibitive, with potentially tens of thousands of dollars in out of pocket expenses. A national survey found that 25% of patients consumed most or

all of their savings in dealing with their cancer and its treatment.¹³ Another study found that patients with higher co-payments were 70% more likely to discontinue their treatment, and 42% more likely to skip doses.¹⁴ Combined with costs due to lost wages and unemployment, the costs of care can be prohibitive for some patients to seek and adhere to treatment.

A number of disparities exist across age, gender, type of cancer, race, socioeconomic status and geography. For example, African Americans are the more likely to be diagnosed with cancer in for four of the five most common conditions. They also have a higher mortality rate: 27% higher among men and 11% higher among women.^{15,16} These variations in in care and outcomes reflect opportunities where care can be standardized and improved.

Improved Health Outcomes that Contribute to Unavoidable Costs

There are many factors that make cancer care expensive that cannot be changed without compromising the quality of care received by cancer patients.

Aging Population

Cancer is most common among people aged 65-74 (25.4% of all new diagnoses in this age range), and thus incidence and expenditures will increase as the elderly population grows.¹⁷ The age 65+ population is expected to boom from 40 million in 2009 to over 70 million in 2030, causing an estimated 27% increase in cancer care expenditures.¹⁸ As older patients tend to have more comorbidities and poorer health in general, they can also have more complex cases.

Increased Cancer Screening

Increased access to care and recent screening guidelines likely will contribute to significantly higher costs of diagnosis and treatments. While such strategies may contribute to reductions in cancer-specific mortality in some cases (for example, 1 in 1000 women and 1 in 1000 smokers may survive due to mammography and chest CT screening), increasing diagnosis may also lead to expensive testing and treatment in other cancers without benefit. For example, thyroid cancer has seen large increases in diagnosis with no changes in mortality rate.

Increased Survival Rates

Five year survival rates have continued to increase over the past 40 years and show an increase from 49% in 1975 to 68% in 2010.¹⁹ This is due to several factors including improved diagnostic and treatment methods (though may also include a component of lead-time bias). While these are clearly favorable outcomes, they contribute to cost increases as people live longer and have potential recurrences.



FIGURE 1 Trends in 5-year survival across all cancers

Source: National Cancer Institute, Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program²⁰

Advances in Technology

Innovative treatments that provide improved care are constantly being developed and advances in genomics and targeted chemotherapy options have led to numerous new treatment options. The research and development costs per new drugs can range anywhere from \$15 million to \$13.2 billion²¹ and treatment costs can also be very high. For example Novartis' Afinitor, a drug used to treat advanced kidney cancer costs approximately \$10,000 per month.²²

Suboptimal Care that Contributes to Avoidable Costs

While some factors driving cancer costs are unavoidable or desirable, others are the result of poor care coordination and lack of evidence based care. These avoidable cost drivers are opportunities where payment reform can drive improved care delivery that can help reduce cancer care expenditures. These avoidable cost drivers are outlined in detail in Figure 2.

FIGURE 2 Drivers of Avoidable Costs in Oncology Care

COST DRIVER	DEFINITION	DATA
Site of care	Costs (and payments) are higher for identical care provided in a hospital setting rather than in outpatient or community settings	Cost of receiving chemotherapy for with metastatic colorectal cancer patients 52.5% higher in hospital outpatient than a physician's office ²³
Unnecessary ER visits and hospitalizations	ER visits and hospitalizations for largely preventable illnesses, such as nausea following chemotherapy administration	Retrospective review of 154 patients with GI cancer determined 19% of hospitalizations were potentially avoidable ²⁴
Inappropriate treatment	Expensive drugs and therapies used with no greater evidence-base for effectiveness than less costly solutions	Patients treating according to pathways had outpatient costs 35% lower with no difference in survival rates ²⁵
Duplication of services	Overutilization of costly imaging studies due to lack of care-coordination	Over 30% of patients (not oncology specific) transferred between two health systems received duplicate tests ²⁶
Fragmentation of c are	Providers across specialties and settings do not always communicate or share accountability for the outcome of the patient	Software system with clinical decision support to assist providers deliver care across disciplines reduced costs by 12%, (40% fewer ER visits, 17% fewer hospital admissions) ²⁷
Overscreening and overdiagnosis	Treatment of cancers that would never cause symptoms or death	Risk that PSA-detected cancer would never cause symptoms estimated at 67% ²⁸
Excessively high technology c osts	Expenses of therapies with marginal or no benefits, or where less costly alternatives exist	Medicare reimburses Proton Radiotherapy 1.4 to 2.5 times higher than Intensity- Modulated Radiotherapy with no difference in toxicity ²⁹
Preventable cancers	Preventative strategies such as tobacco control, HPV and hepatitis B vaccination, and reduction of avoidable diagnostic radiation can lower cancer incidence	30% of cancer deaths (82% of lung cancer deaths) can be attributed to tobacco ³⁰
End of life c are	Cancer costs are especially high at the end of life, which is generally considered to be a sign of poor quality cancer care.	28 of 39 avoidable hospitalizations could have been avoided through appropriate use of hospice ³¹

8

Cancer Drugs

A specific issue in oncology costs merits special consideration. One of the greatest cost drivers in oncology is expensive cancer drugs. Federal policies regulating drug payment systems impact the financial solvency of practices and jeopardize the financial sustainability of care redesign.

Under the "buy and bill" payment mechanism, providers purchase the drugs directly from pharmaceutical companies and are reimbursed for them later (includes average sales price for the drugs plus 6% for Medicare and variables for commercial payers). For many oncology practices, up to 65% of practice revenues result from this system.³² This payment mechanism incentivizes oncologists to prescribe more costly drugs to increase net revenues even when more cost-effective options are available. The undesirable added costs associated with more expensive cancer drugs are a controllable cost. Oncology practices like NMCC can implement care redesign to move toward prescribing more cost-effective cancer drugs, and these savings can be used to incentivize stakeholder buy-in.

Another mechanism that impacts drug pricing, and one that puts community-based, non-hospital practices at a cost disadvantage, is the 340b program. This requires drug manufacturers to provide 25 - 50% discounts on cancer drugs to community health centers (FQHCs), and allows the organizations to use the additional revenue made on more costly drugs to offset other costs. As a result organizations that cannot qualify for 340b status may be restrained in their relative ability to compete against other qualifying centers, which may limit investments in care redesign.

Care Redesign Framework

This case study uses a framework to consider these drivers of suboptimal care and the specific care redesign elements undertaken by NMCC to improve patient-centered care (Figure 3).

All types of care redesign can be described in terms of *where* the care is delivered; *who* the care is delivered by; *how* the care decisions are made; and the *data* used to ensure effectiveness. To make any intended transformations 'come alive', extensive engagement is required across all stakeholders.³³ Within a health care setting this will included patients, clinicians, the local network of providers, and those paying for care.

FIGURE 3 Care Redesign Framework





DATA AND MEASUREMENTS

In general, payment is currently not tied to value in oncology care. To accomplish this transition to value-based payment, however, good measures of value must exist. Many organizations are developing performance measures. For example, the American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO), the Community Oncology Association (COA) and the National Quality Forum (NQF) each have specific oncology performance measures that

COA PATIENT

practices can use to quantify the quality of care they deliver and determine areas for improvement. ASCO has also created the Quality Oncology Practice Initiative (QOPI) a performance benchmarking program with over 700 practices enrolled³⁴ (35% of the estimated 2,000 oncology practices³⁵). QOPI is also an approved registry for reporting the Physician Quality Reporting System's (PQRS) oncology quality measures.

Figure 4 illustrates the three main categories of measures: **structural**, **process**, and **outcomes**. Ultimately, outcome measures are those that are most meaningful to patients, but structural and process measures can serve as useful proxies or surrogate endpoints for outcome measures, and are often easier to collect in a timely manner.

FIGURE 4 Types of Oncology Performance Measures

TYPE	DESCRIPTION	IMPACT	NQF	ASCO	COA	SATISFACTION SURVEY
Structural	Tracks whether systems and infrastructure are in place	Gauges whether or not a practice has the capability to provide higher quality care	4 (7%) of NQF measures are structural. Examples include: • Reminder system for mammograms in place • Melanoma: Continuity of care-recall system in place	N/A	N/A	1 question measures structure: Patient was given the information needed at the right time
Process es	Analyzes resource use and practice of evidence-based medicine	Helps to ensure that practices are delivering care in a standardized, evidence based manner.	 51 (89%) are processes Examples include: Patients admitted to ICU who have care preferences documented Proportion receiving chemotherapy in the last 14 days of life Exposure time reported for procedures using fluoroscopy 	 100% are processes. They are broken down by cancer type or stage of treatment as follows: 56 core measures 12 symptoms measures 26 end of life measures 11 non-small cell lung cancer measures 8 gynecologic oncology measures 	 16 (80%) are processes Examples include: Percentage of patients that receive a treatment plan prior to the administering chemo Number of ER visits per chemotherapy patients 	8 (30%) measure process. Examples include: Patients received care right away Provider ordered a blood test, x-ray, etc.
Outcome s	Tracks effectiveness of a treatment by assessing performance status after treatment	Confirms that infrastructure and practice translate into better health	 5 (8%) are outcomes Examples include: Risk-adjusted morbidity and mortality for lung resection Risk-adjustment morbidity and morbidity and morbidity for esophagectomy 	N/A	4 (20%) of COA measures are outcomes. Examples include: •Survival rates of Stage I through IV breast cancer patients • Patient satisfaction as measured by a patient survey	 18 (67%) measure outcomes Examples include: Patient felt that provider spendtenough time with them Patient felt they received an answer to their medical questions as soon as needed

In addition to measures that are already developed, there are several areas in which work is underway to develop appropriate measures including: measurement of team approach to care; end-of-life and palliative care; patient-reported outcomes (quality of life, pain); and patient experience in care.

PART II: CARE REDESIGN AND THE CREATION OF THE COMMUNITY ONCOLOGY MEDICAL HOME

CATALYST FOR CHANGE

Dr. Barbara McAneny founded NMCC in 1987 and in her years working as a medical oncologist, she has been particularly frustrated by the adverse impact that fragmented care has on her patients. Often patients are directed to up to three different locations to receive care from their oncologist, lab, and chemotherapy provider. Cancer patients may also have to wait for hours in the ER before potentially being admitted.

This is particularly concerning for patients actively in treatment, since they experience frequent fatigue and are more susceptible to infection. Exposure to germs and infections can often have catastrophic outcomes. That this fragmentation has also led to many of the avoidable costs to the system outlined in the section above has added to her frustration. Dr. McAneny became dedicated to making major changes to the way that oncology care was delivered in New Mexico and in response created a free-standing, integrated cancer treatment that serves patients in a soothing and frictionless way.

1 in 3 New Mexico residents with cancer are treated by NMCC

7,000 patient visits annually2,678 patients150 employees

Working within NMCC

Over the past fifteen years, NMCC has undergone extensive redesign to alleviate care fragmentation issues. This includes clinical improvement to change *how* care is delivered, infrastructure projects to change *where* care is delivered, and information and technology implementations to ensure *effective measurement* of change.

Most of this redesign did not have direct financial support. The funding for these changes came from reinvestment of NMCC profits in the early 2000s. NMCC may have also benefited from the attraction of more patient volume due to their reputation for providing innovative cancer care. However, as payment rates have tightened and margins and profits have fallen over the past 10 years, this level of reinvestment is no longer sustainable for the practice under current payment models.

While the changes made by NMCC had some impact on reducing fragmentation for patients, Dr. McAneny felt that more could and should be done to improve the patient experience, and to reduce the costs of cancer care. NMCC has, therefore, also attempted to work in a more integrated fashion with the wider New Mexico medical community.

Practice Environment and Local Health Care Market

NMCC competes in a complex environment in Albuquerque, NM. While New Mexico has a population of 2 million, almost half of the population lives in Albuquerque. Of the 50 hospitals across the state, most are small and rural, providing their local population with basic medical services. Specialist services, including cancer care are provided by three major health systems based in Albuquerque:

LoveLace Health Facility	Includes a medical center, three regional hospitals, a rehabilitation hospital and women's hospital.
Presbyterian Health Care	8 hospitals, 8 urgent care centers and over 50 other clinics and centers.
University of NM Hospitals	Only level 1 trauma ED in the state; main hospital is over 600 beds. Multiple other centers across NM

Until recently there were three main health plans serving Albuquerque: Presbyterian, Lovelace, and BlueCross BlueShield New Mexico (BCBS). Each of these plans had commercial managed care plans and government-sponsored (Medicaid and Medicare) managed care plans. In the fall of 2013 LoveLace lost its Medicaid contract to Molina Health and in the spring of 2014, sold its Medicare Advantage and commercial beneficiaries to BCBS, meaning Presbyterian and BCBS controlled over 60% of the Albuquerque market.^{36,37} Figure 5 shows the breakdown of NMCC's payers.

FIGURE 5 Breakdown of NMCC Payers



NOTES: Medicare is only accounting for payments received from the government; Presbyterian's figure includes Medicare Advantage, Managed Medicaid and commercial; BCBS includes Medicaid *managed care* and commercial; Indian Health Service (IHS) is significant in Gallup but not in overall market. Source: Information provided through interviews with NMCC staff.

Working in collaboration with others

Over the years, NMCC has considered several strategies to work with providers and payers to change the way oncology care is delivered in New Mexico. Figure 6 illustrates these efforts.

FIGURE 6 Timeline of NMCC's Efforts

2007	2010	2011	2012
Working with other independent practices	Working with a large integrated health system	Working with CMS - sharing data	Working with CMS - successful grant award

Working with other independent medical practices: Early unsuccessful attempt to establish an ACO In 2007, the NMCC leadership attempted to set up Independent Doctors of New Mexico (IDNM); a multi-disciplinary contracting vehicle with other independent physician groups, operating within a framework that included elements of both clinical and financial integration.

Aims of Independent Doctors of New Mexico

- Develop infrastructure to allow independent practices to compete with large vertically integrated systems
- Attain a degree of clinical integration to both make health care more efficient and affordable, and to meet governmental and quasi-governmental requirements
- Offer group purchasing opportunities not available to independent medical practices
- Establish a contracting vehicle to ensure an informed approach to managed care contract negotiations
- Support physician investors in their efforts to provide quality healthcare while staying economically viable
- Encourage new insurers and new health care facilities to enter the market

IDNM developed a web based portal for medical claim processing which included electronic claim submission to the clearing house, handling of remittance files from payers and generation of claim payment advice. While over 100 physicians signed up to the framework by 2008, IDNM was ultimately unsuccessful as a project as they were unable to find a payer to contract with them.

Working with a large integrated health system: Unsuccessful attempts to partner with a large hospital provider-payer organization

NMCC previously reported a cooperative relationship with Presbyterian, and in 2010 decided to explore whether they could better address the issues of fragmentation of care by forming a closer working relationship. NMCC analyzed their data for Presbyterian health plan patients and compared this to industry standard data. Through looking at patients' length of stay in hospital, NMCC estimated that they had saved the health plan approximately \$18 million in the previous year. The response from Presbyterian was an overture purchase NMCC for their provider arm.

NMCC's leadership decided to not explore this arrangement as they felt that staying an independent, community based center was better for their patients. The main driver in this decision was the belief that small community practices can make rapid changes to meet patient needs without the extensive layers of bureaucracy that can slow both the pace and scope of change. NMCC are also passionate proponents of the importance of independent practice as a key part of the delivery of health care; the leadership had concerns about the both the impact that a reduction in provider organizations would have on patient choice, and the potential conflicts which exist in a fully integrated health system between payer (aiming to keep costs manageable) and provider (aiming to deliver the best possible care). The analytical analysis undertaken as part of this process served to emphasis the impact that ER visits and hospitalizations had on NMCC's patients and the high cost impact for the whole system.

Working with CMS: Successful grant to explore a new model of care

The Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation (CMMI) was established in 2010 by the Affordable Care Act as a new branch of CMS. The goal of CMMI's initial \$10 billion, 10-year budget is to develop and test new models for delivering and paying for health care. Since its formation, CMMI continues to develop ACOs, coordinate health care for dual-eligibles (low-income Medicare beneficiaries that also qualify for Medicaid), provide enhanced primary care services, and test bundled payments.³⁸ One CMMI initiative, the Health Care Innovation Awards (HCIA), provides funding to health care organizations that are already improving health care and lowering costs for Medicare and Medicaid patients.

In 2011, Dr. McAneny was involved in discussions with CMMI. The discussion was centered on the CMS pilot projects which were struggling to show cost savings. Dr. McAneny shared NMCC's cost savings analysis developed for the Presbyterian negotiations and was encouraged to apply for an HCIA grant to develop a 'proof of concept' for the community oncology model.

Dr. McAneny applied for the HCIA award along with six community oncology practices and, in order to distribute the grant and provide administrative oversight, she created a company called Innovative Oncology Business Solutions (IOBS). In 2012, the first round of awards gave a total of \$1 billion to 107 health care organizations across the country, to explore how better care could be delivered in a most cost effective way. IOBS was awarded \$19,757,338 to deliver the COME HOME program over three years.³⁹

The grant focused on showing how community oncology practices could manage cancer symptoms and complications, and save money by reducing use of emergency rooms and preventing inpatient admissions. The grant program runs for three years from July 2012 and has an explicit aim to reduce ER visits by 52% and hospitalization by 21%.⁴⁰ Specifically, the grant described how to reduce costs through:

- Symptom management
- Increased access to care
- Use of pathways
- Compliance tracking and better data management
- Better management for additional cost efficiencies

OVERVIEW OF THE COME HOME PROGRAM

The program builds on, and acts as an extension to, the foundation of successful changes made by NMCC to develop a comprehensive model of community oncology care demonstrating improved outcomes, enhanced patient care and saved costs. The program is working with six other clinics across the country to generate a proof of concept for the model, relevant to different markets with an aim that the outcomes from the program can be used to generate ideas for long-term sustainable practice.

Target Population

The target population for the program is newly diagnosed or relapsed Medicare, Medicaid and commercial insurance patients seeking oncology care (see Figure 7) at one of seven participating clinics. The program aimed to enroll approximately a total of 9,558 patients during the three year project and as of March 31st 2014, has recruited 107% of target (total of 10,213 unique patients). Of these, 26% are NMCC patients.



FIGURE 7 The COME HOME Model

FIGURE 8 Target population for COME HOME program

PATIENT TYPE	MEDICARE	NON-MEDICARE	TOTAL
Breast Cancer	1,587	304	1,891
Lung Cancer	1,536	294	1,830
Colorectal Cancer	888	170	1,058
Lymphoma	538	103	641
Melanoma	439	84	523
Pancreas	402	77	479
Thyroid	147	28	175
Other Cancers	2,485	476	2,961
Total Cases	8,022	1,536	9,558

Source: Washington State Medical Oncology Society⁴¹

Projected Savings

The reduction in ER visits and hospitalizations are projected to produce overall Medicare cost savings of \$4,178 per patient per year (PPPY), a saving of approximately 6.28%. Over three years, the project is expected to save Medicare \$33.5 million and result in a net savings of \$13.76 million (See Figure 9). NMCC estimated these savings based on a Medicare enrollment of 8,022 patients over the three years and used Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) data to calculate the baseline costs per patient. The majority of the savings per patient will come from reduced hospital admissions but also from reduced ED visits and pharmacy costs. The increase in physician costs reflects the additional visits for acute symptom management that are an essential part of the COME HOME model.⁴²

Service	Average Cost Per Unit of Service	Baseline Total Cost Per Patient*	Projected Decrease in Costs	Projected Total Cost Per Patient	Projected Average Saving Per Patient
Hospital	\$8,225	\$17,108	(21.15%)	\$13,489	\$3,619
ED Visits	\$554	\$1,136	(52.2%)	\$543	\$593
Physician	\$228	\$6,398	7.6%	\$6,882	(\$484)
Pharmacy	\$90	\$13,355	(3.4%)	\$12,905	\$450
Other	\$9,480	\$28,573	0.00%	\$28,573	\$0
Total		\$66,569	6.276%	\$62,391	\$4,178

FIGURE 9 Projected Savings to Medicare

Source: COME HOME, Innovative Oncology Business Solutions, Inc. provided this data, from the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey, to OBRGreen online magazine.⁴³

Breakdown of COME HOME Program Expenditures

The COME HOME Program funds both ongoing staffing costs and infrastructure development. The breakdown of cost by category can be seen in figure 10 and by grant allocated to each clinic in figure 11.

Each of the participating clinics has 10.5 full-time equivalents (FTE) staff, in addition the staff who work across the program itself. A key constraint of the grant money is that it cannot be used for any service which is billed with an Evaluation and Management (E&M) code through FFS, to guarantee that CMS is not paying twice at any point. The allocation of the 10.5FTE varies between the different clinics. At NMCC this funds 4.8 nurses, 0.4 data analyst, 1.75 patient care coordinator, 1.75 telephone triage operators, 0.75 front desk manager and 0.75 clinic manager.

FIGURE 10 Breakdown of grant allocation by cost category

FIGURE 10 Breakdown of grant allocation by cost FIGURE 11 Breakdown of grant allocation by clinic

Category	Total	Clinic	Total
Ctaff agets over 7 vegra (aligia)	\$12.16F.062	New Mexico	\$2,414,388
stan costs over 5 years (ctirnic)	\$12,105,002	Ft Worth Centers for Cancer & Blood Disorders	\$2,036,108
Staff costs over 3 years (program)	\$2,445,903	NW Georgia Oncology Centers	\$2,056,810
Clinical pathway dayalapmant	\$2,625,000	Space Coast Cancer Center	\$2,081,794
etimeat patrivay development		Austin Cancer Center	\$1,944,506
Triage pathway development	\$752,000	Dayton Physicians Network	\$1,970,793
Technology and EHR	\$639,982	Maine Center for Cancer Medicine	\$1,876,612
Other (program)	\$1,129,391	Program Admin (including staff, triage development and	\$5,376,327
ΤΟΤΑΙ	\$19,757,338	technology)	
	\$19,7 67,888	TOTAL	\$19,757,338

CARE REDESIGN STRATEGY: REINVENTING PATIENT-CENTERED CANCER CARE

In this section, we consider NMCC's redesign strategies using the delivery innovation framework that focuses on: site of care reforms, team approaches to care, improved decision support, and collecting and using data. These are reinforced by engagement to sustain high-quality care.

The impact of each element of redesign has also been considered against the "Triple Aim."



Source: Information provided by NMCC and COME HOME Innovative Oncology Business Solutions, Inc. staffs through emails following interviews

Aligning Redesign Goals with the Triple Aim



A. Site of Care Reforms

2000	2002	2003	2007	2012
 Inclusion of Radiation Oncologist in the practice 	New building designed to house NMCC Onsite laboratory	PET/CT Diagnostic imaging equipment added	Onsite dispensing pharmacy added Extended infusion room	• Extended hours of practice to evenings and weekends
 Introduction of daily filgastrim (Neupogen) shot clinic 	added CT and X-ray diagnostic imaging equipment added	udded.	• MRI diagnostic imaging equipment added	



Design a patient-centered facility. NMCC bought land to build their center in 2001 and the patient perspective had an impact in all areas of building design and décor. The center itself is a single-story building with a parking lot right outside so that patients do not need to walk a long way to and from their treatments. The internal layout of the building has also been designed to feel more like home, and less like an austere clinical institution. Rather than one large and overwhelming office, the doctors' offices are arranged in three 'pods'; and there is a main desk with medical assistants assigned to support patients and clinicians,

After the building had been designed, further work was required to include all of the envisioned services. In 2002, they added an onsite laboratory and over the next several years purchased their own imaging equipment including CT, x-ray, PET and MRI equipment. In 2007, NMCC added their own dispensing pharmacy and expanded their infusion room to include a separate area for those who may need to lie down or require special medical attention.



Provide all services in one community location. Geographic clustering of care can lead to better patient satisfaction and less duplication of services; it allows for better medication management, lab testing, and follow-up care. By providing patients with a "one stop shop" for all their services, patients are no longer overwhelmed by visiting multiple sites and hard to navigate buildings.

Further, by providing this all in a community setting, NMCC ensures that the rates paid for services are lower than they would be in a hospital inpatient or outpatient department. For example, the per beneficiary cost of receiving chemotherapy in a hospital is 25 to 47% higher than in a physician office. While these improvements were successful, NMCC wanted to focus further on reducing unnecessary ER visits and hospitalizations.⁴⁴



Provide easy access to routine services. Chemotherapy harms the body's infection-fighting ability, which is treated by filgastrim (Neupogen) injections to enhance the number of immune cells to prevent fever and infection. Prior to the implementation of NMCC's weekend shot clinic, patients had to visit the ER or inpatient facility; pay high higher costs for treatments and co-pays; and often waited for several hours in an infection-prone environment. With COME HOME funding, NMCC expanded shot clinic hours and services to include management of fever and other Neupogen side effects to mitigate unnecessary hospital or ER visits (anecdotal evidence suggests that it is).

Coordinate care with local hospital. When admitted or seen in a hospital, many cancer patients undergo unnecessary repeated radiography and other expensive testing and treatment. To avoid this, NMCC employed a hospitalist to care for all NMCC patients in one ward. This greater coordination of care avoided unnecessary repeat testing, ensured good handoffs and communication with primary oncology teams, and avoided cancer treatments interrupted by hospitalization.



Expand access through after hours care. The most significant site of care change was extending practice. Prior to the COME HOME project, NMCC closed at 5pm on weekdays and offered no weekend hours. The center is now open until 8pm on weekdays and 1pm to 4pm on weekends (including the shot clinic). In addition to the physicians and nurses operating at these times, physicians have access to tests and results

required to treat. The on-site lab is also open to ensure that patients are treated effectively. NMCC also hired an urgent care physician to treat patients experiencing side-effects. At the end of quarter seven, NMCC has averaged 82 extended hours' visits per month accounting for approximately 14% of all patient visits.

B. Team-Based Care



Add care coordinators to care teams. Each physician is paired with a patient care coordinator (PCC), with whom they share a

case-load. The PCC takes all routine non-clinical work from the doctor so that they can work at the top of their license. They also work with patients to book appointments, schedule required treatments, and arrange travel when necessary. This helps reduce delays in treatment and allows the patient to focus solely on their treatment and recovery.



Clinically trained administrative staff. All administrative staff operate as medical assistants, ensuring that they are able to appropriately support patients through the complex checkin process when they visit the clinic.

This also means that they operate as part of the clinical team, reducing the common divide between clinical and non-clinical professionals.





Financial counseling added to patient care regimen. Every new oncology patient meets with an on-staff financial counselor; NMCC feels that it is essential to provide these services early on to prevent patients from disrupting their treatment due to the high cost. This initial meeting reviews the details of the patient's insurance plan to determine what will be covered and what the patient must pay out of pocket. Between doctor visits, lab

tests, treatments, procedures, imaging tests, drugs and other costs, there are many different aspects of an insurance policy to consider which can be very confusing for patients. Beyond treatment costs, many patients may experience other financial consequences or limitations as a result of not being able to work, paying for additional childcare or transportation to and from doctor visits. The financial counselor provides patients with information about treatment costs and connects them with local resources that can provide financial assistance.

C. Improved Decision Support

NMCC has worked to improve their decision support for both physicians and nursing staff. Physician support has been focused on **diagnostic and therapeutic pathways**, a set of guidelines that steer physicians toward the most effective and least expensive treatment when two treatments are equally effective. Nursing support has focused on triage pathways. In a nationwide study from 2012, over half of all payers have implemented oncology pathways programs or had plans to do so in the next two years.⁴⁵

Diagnostic and Therapeutic Pathways. In 2008, NMCC analyzed treatment regimens and recognized that there was more variation in the diagnostic and therapeutic pathways used by physicians than was ideal. They completed a collaborative exercise across their physician group to explain the variance, and developed best-practices to consolidate pathways covering the majority of oncology treatment plans. For example, without standardization and consensus building, two physicians with treating two female patients with early stage breast cancer and identical clinical profiles, may still prescribe treatments of varying cost or outcome.

As oncology pathways become more common, several vendors have developed pathways as products. Many of these companies market their pathways directly to payer organizations as a way to help them get their cancer drug costs under control. Some also sell directly to providers who are interested in implementing pathways. NMCC estimated the cost of purchasing pathways from one of these vendors to be approximately \$10,000 per physician per year.

While NMCC considered purchasing pre-existing pathways, they eventually decided to develop their own in order to retain flexibility and to support physician engagement. Through COME HOME, each practice is paid \$125,000 to collaborate on pathway development. They have partnered with KEW Group and created the KEW Oncology Network. Meetings are held on a quarterly basis with representatives from all seven practices. During these meetings, representatives determine and choose which treatment are the most clinically effective with the lowest toxicity, and where other factors are equal, and which therapies are most cost-effective. This program has created pathways for the seven tumor types, which together account for 75% of NMCC's oncology patients.⁴⁶

NMCC physicians are currently at 80% adherence to their pathways and have started to look at other measures for diagnostic and therapeutic excellence. They introduced a new measure in March 2014 to identify the number of patients who are "staged" within one month of diagnosis. Currently they are meeting this target for 23.8% of patients, and are now working toward revised target of 50%, and anticipate achieving 100% over time.⁴⁷ (This actual rate of staging compliance may be underestimated due to a delay in migrating this statistic to a searchable field in their electronic medical record).



Triage Pathways. The most significant decision-support reform was the introduction of triage pathways for telephone support when patients would call with acute symptoms or questions. Previously, only experienced oncology registers nurses (RNs) and licensed practical nurses (LPNs) provided patient assistance via telephone and calls were limited to

the hours of 8am and 5pm, and there were no formal written processes. This led to lengthy calls with patients, variation in the information patients were given, and possible preventable ER visits and hospitalizations.



FIGURE 12 NMCC's triage process

The new process uses a web-based interface that pulls data twice a day from NMCC's electronic health record (EHR) system. Telephone operators receive calls, and nurses guide patients through a pathway; a course of pre-defined questions based on the patient's inquiry. All triage staff are funded through the grant.

Implement real-time decision support. While the initial goal of the triage process was to address patient needs before sought treatment in the ER, it subsequently evolved into an automated decision support system for active symptom management. Triage enables automated, real-time decision-making support for the nursing staff. The pathways were both developed by a team of physicians and nurses, and are updated continuously. To ensure pathway compliance, they are monitored closely, and any falloff triggers the team to consider updating the pathways.

For example, one analysis demonstrated that patients with pain and nausea were refusing to attend same-day appointments and then later visiting the ER. The pathways were subsequently modified to include a follow-up call if the patient refused to make a same day appointment. When nurses called the patient back later in the day to check on their pain and nausea, nurses would again highly encourage patients with persistent symptoms to come to the clinic that day. As a result, patients began visiting the clinic rather than the ER.

By the end of the seventh quarter, NMCC was averaging 950 triage phone calls, and using 300 pathways per month. Triage pathway compliance was running at 74.92% against a target of 80%.

D. Collecting and Using Data

NMCC has focused on *actionable data* –before any data is collected, a schema is developed outlining the intended use and the decisions it will reinforce. That is, NMCC uses the data collected to produce measures that enable clinical actions to improve care. Quality measures are not considered static and once achieved, are amended with more rigorous targets.

FIGURE 13 Key measures collected by NMCC

Structural Measures	Process Measures	Outcome Measures	
• Extended hours	Compliance reports of triage for symptom	 Patient satisfaction survey (see below) 	
• Number of same day appointment slots available	management pathways	 Getting an appointment and starting 	
• EHR down-time	 Treatment dashboards for adherence to clinical pathways 	treatment for a condition that needed care right away	
Pulls of data from EHR into other systems	Number of extended hours visits per month	• ED utilization (Note: just began receiving this	
Missing records and incomplete data	Number of calls triaged per month	data from CMS)	
	Number of calls triaged per month	• Real time comparative effectiveness research of clinical pathways:	
	 Number of triage pathways used 	Percentage of patients completing regimen	
	• Percentage of patients staged (QOPI) within one	on time	
	month of diagnosis	 Percentage of patients who accessed required auxiliary pathways (nausea, diarrhea, etc.) 	

NMCC would like to use claims data from CMS and other payers to help identify opportunities for improvements in care, but they have not managed to solve some of the key data sharing issues involved, including privacy concerns and the timely access to information.

Patient Surveys

NMCC uses a patient satisfaction survey developed by Community Oncology Alliance (COA), based on the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) methodology.⁴⁸ The COA survey includes questions that could be turned into quality measures for actionable data and focuses on (1) whether patients received their care right away; (2) whether patients received all the information they wanted about their health to share in decision making; and (3) whether patients felt they were treated with respect.

Technology

NMCC's EHR was originally purchased as part of NMCC's profit reinvestment in the early 2000s (cost approximately \$450,000 and the practice spends \$500,000 annually for licenses and maintenance). The diagnostic, therapeutic, and triage pathways are integrated into the EHR, which provides real-time reporting with twice-daily data sync. Recent improvements to the system include ability to input DNR discussions (a key quality metric), co-morbidities, and family history. NMCC also assessed EHR meaningful use requirements when designing specifications. In future enhancements, NMCC intends to develop predictive analytics to target specific interventions.

ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION FOR SUSTAINING HIGH-QUALITY CARE

None of the care redesign changes highlighted above would be possible without effective engagement with patients, clinicians, and the local network of providers.

A. Patients



Regular use of patient surveys to assess care. As described in the section above, NMCC use patient satisfaction surveys as a key mechanism for engaging with patients. Their median patient satisfaction score using the COA CAHPS survey is 90.63%, compared to national scores of 62% to 82%. Changes made at NMCC as a result of survey responses include a major redesign of scheduling processes for the infusion room to reduced wait time from over an hour to about 6 minutes, and an increase in the number of patient education programs.

Encouraging active disease management. Integral to the COME HOME model is engaging with patients at every point of contact with NMCC. This includes encouraging patients to call into the triage line and to walk-in to the clinic if they need to. Many patients hold preconceived beliefs that by calling the doctor's office, they are "bothering the doctor." Thus, in order for the COME HOME model to succeed, they have engaged patients and encourage them to take advantage of all the benefits that COME HOME offers. From the moment patients first enter NMCC they are greeted by staff wearing buttons advertising the COME HOME program. Every new patient has a half hour meeting with a nurse navigator during which they discuss the details of their condition and treatment, as well as the benefits of the COME HOME program. The purpose is to emphasize it is a unique program that creates a unique patient-centered experience. During this patient education meeting, each patient receives a notebook with detailed information about cancer that also explains the COME HOME program. They also receive a "Gold Card" listing phone numbers and hours of operation. Patient engagement is a center-wide effort that is based on a unified message from all physicians and staff. Every member of the importance of calling their doctor's office first before visiting the hospital.



The NMCC Foundation. The New Mexico Cancer Center Foundation (NMCCF), a 501(c)3 non-profit organization, was created in 2003 to help patients with their non-medical financial needs while they undergo treatment. The foundation provides small grants to cover specific costs that will allow the patient to focus on completing their treatment, as well as educational programs on topics requested by patients. Last year the foundation's

budget was between \$200,000 and \$300,000. Patients can apply for a grant directly (maximum of \$1,000 dollars per year) or they can be referred by clinic staff. No money is given directly to patients; instead the foundation will pay a specific bill (a mortgage payment, for example) or provide a gas card so that the patient can travel to the clinic. In the past year, the Foundation provided grants to nearly 200 patients. The Foundation has a variety of fundraising mechanisms to cover its budget. For example, NMCC doubles as an art gallery with artwork on display year round that can be purchased at any time. Four times a year the foundation also holds art shows to display and sell its artwork to the public.

B. Clinicians

NMCC encourages transparency for productivity and quality data, which is shared among physicians. This includes numbers of overall patients, numbers of new patients, and scheduling. Despite the focus on quality of care, however, discretionary physicians' bonuses still are based on volume (measured by relative value units, or RVUs) and for non-partner staff previously were up to 50% of overall pay, though this percentage has since declined. Partners receive a profit-share based on their volume. At this point, the bonus and incentive system still relies entirely on productivity and clinical volume, rather than measures of quality, improved outcomes, or patient satisfaction.

As part of the COME HOME program, the senior management team led the culture shift to patient-centeredness, with the extension of operating hours into the evenings and weekends. They worked with staffing groups across the disciplines and led best-practice improvement sessions in each team meeting to ensure that staff were appropriately 'bought-in' to the process. Physician involvement in developing diagnostic, therapeutic and triage pathways also ensured that they had ownership of major changes.

C. Local Network of Providers

NMCC maintains close ties with other providers in the community and also relies on an informal network developed through working relationships of NMCC staff. For example, their internist has been practicing in New Mexico for 40 years in a variety of settings and has maintained good relationships with physicians outside of NMCC. These relationships are essential to communicating with primary care offices about the services their patients are receiving at NMCC. Rather than patients going to their primary care physicians with specialized complications, they can receive treatment at NMCC where there is more oncology expertise.

There would be great benefit to formalizing some of these relationships, particularly in mitigating risk if key staff left the practice. However, a broad lack of technological interoperability prevents NMCC and outside providers from sharing data about their mutual patients. There is also a lack of financial support available for coordinating care across many organizations.

An additional area for improvement would be their connections with long-term care and hospice care organizations. NMCC does not have any direct or informal connections with these facilities which hinders their ability to fully coordinate patient care.

PART III: PAYMENT REFORM

The key challenge for NMCC is to be able to show evidence that the model has reduced unnecessary ER visits and hospitalizations, and prove its financial viability. In this section we provide an overview of the payment models available to NMCC and discuss which approach(es) may be the most suitable for sustaining their practice moving forward.

NMCC currently receives approximately \$70,000 per month from the CMMI grant, and has not yet identified a clear strategy to sustain the delivery reforms in the COME HOME care model past the conclusion of the funding cycle (July 2015). A further challenge is that the grant does not actually cover all of the extra costs for the extended practice hours (CMS cannot be billed for the same activities twice, so CMMI grant funds cannot be used toward activities that are billed as Evaluation and Management (E&M) codes). The E&M code reimbursements do not include an additional payment for extended office hours yet NMCC are required to pay staff at a higher hourly rate for this work. This means that the grant only covers the full costs of triage nurses and operators, and some administrative staff and clinic managers.

OVERVIEW OF CURRENT CANCER CARE FUNDING

The majority of health care in the U.S. is reimbursed on a fee-for-service basis. This system rewards the volume of procedures rather than the value of care delivered, and services known to improve quality and reduce costs (care coordination, telemedicine, etc.) receive little or no reimbursement. In addition to these inherent issues, the current payment system does not reward quality improvement. Specifically, if a practice undergoes major quality initiatives that lower costs, typically, financial savings accrue to the payer, and not the individual practice.

These misaligned incentives and the lack of financial return signify that many practices simply cannot afford to achieve clinical transformation without additional funding streams. Without a sustainable funding source, it will also be increasingly difficult to expand and maintain their augmented services and offerings. Alternative payment models are essential to support continued improvement and transformation of care.

Working with Payers

Forging good relationships and building trust with commercial payers will help in identifying the different pressures points existing across the organization in making a funding decision (Figure 14). Considering and responding to the payment reform needs of government health policy makers, both state Medicaid officials and federal Medicare officials, is also important. For example, both Medicare and Medicaid seek to control costs by implementing medical homes, updating prospective payment models, rebalancing long-term support services, and reducing unnecessary ER and hospitalizations. Clinical leaders should be aware of government payment reform opportunities, including major federal grants and Medicaid waivers.

FIGURE 14 Sample decision-making process for a commercial insurer



ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT MODELS

Alternative payment models (APMs) currently in development for oncology are in the early stages, but efforts are underway to move toward comprehensive episode or case-based payments, and alternative payment structures for services not reimbursed in a FFS setting. Broader or larger case-based payments may also provide stronger incentives to limit costs and implement delivery reforms that lead to cost reductions, but these payments may expose oncologists to greater financial risk. Consequently, implementing payment reforms that are viewed as feasible and desirable by both providers and payers is difficult. The four key alternative payment models in oncology are: **clinical pathways**, **Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs)**, **patient-centered oncology medical home** (PCOMH), and **bundled payments**.

Clinical Pathways

Clinical pathways are based on National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) guidelines, and are considered by many as the first step toward more comprehensive payment and delivery reform options in oncology. The other APMs described below include pathways adherence as part of their reform.

The clinical pathways model itself uses an add-on per-patient payment to encourage adherence to predefined, evidence-based chemotherapy regimens. A provider adopts clinical pathways into their workflow and in doing so, agrees to use a preselected group of triage, diagnostic, and/or therapeutic treatments. For treatments that are equally effective, the recommended pathways will recommend treatment with the lowest cost. A provider has to meet a certain level of pathway compliance (usually 80%), but can go 'off pathway' to accommodate patient preferences and variation in disease development.

FIGURE 15 Comparison of Alternative Payment Models for Oncology

APM	Per patient based payment	FFS payments shifted into per- patient payment	Incentive for reducing FFS	Incentive for reducing total cost	Level of financial risk to clinical provider
Clinical Pathways	1				Minimal
PCOMH	1				Minimal
ACOs	1	1	1	1	Limited
Bundled Payments	1	1	1		High

Preliminary findings from pilot studies of clinical pathways suggest the initiatives have slowed cost growth, reduced the frequency of unnecessarily aggressive treatments and do not worsen outcomes. One study of a cohort of lung cancer patients showed a reduction in drug costs of 37% over the course of the 12 month study. A majority of these savings were associated with adjuvant and first-line chemotherapy drugs with no cost saving found in second-line settings.⁴⁹

FIGURE 16 Reduction in overall cancer costs through implementation of clinical pathways



More conservative cost reduction estimates were announced by WellPoint, Inc, one of the nation's largest health plans, which launched a clinical pathways payment program in July 2014.⁵⁰ The program provides a \$350 per-member-per-month payment for each cancer patient treated through specific recommended pathways. WellPoint estimates the new program will reduce treatment costs between 3% to 4% per year.

While pathways primarily result in a one-time savings after implementation, there is potential that their continued widespread use will disrupt the current pharmaceutical market and bring down the cost of oncology drugs overall. While pathways primarily consider efficacy and toxicity in choosing which drugs to recommend, cost is the final factor in determining which drug will be recommended. Drug companies may be compelled to consider the cost of their drugs in relation to those of similar efficacy and toxicity, which could lead to lower drug prices to be included in pathways.

Potential Opportunities and Barriers of Clinical Pathways for NMCC

NMCC developed pathways for seven tumor types as part of the COME HOME grant. They were not developed in conjunction with a commercial payer or with a commitment that CMS would provide PMPM fees for their use.

Due to the earlier exercise undertaken in 2008 to consolidate their diagnostic and therapeutic pathways to reduce variation between their physicians, NMCC did not anticipate further overall cost savings from clinical pathways. Ultimately, NMCC view the new clinical pathways not as an APM in itself, but as an important quality initiative which will provide assurance to payers and encourage the use of APMs.

Patient-Centered Oncology Medical Home

The PCOMH includes a fixed PMPM fee for clinicians that meet a specific set of capabilities and quality standards in their practices, using an adaptation of the primary care patient-centered medical home framework established by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA). This fee can be used to support services not reimbursed through FFS or for infrastructure investments.



FIGURE 17 Reduction in overall cancer costs through implementation of a PCOMH

The initiation of the payment model begins with a patient's diagnosis – when the practice assumes primary responsibility for the coordination of all services related to the cancer, and coordination with other providers for any non-oncologic care – and extends through to the survivorship phase of care. The case payment in oncology is generally between \$200 and \$250 PMPM which is significantly higher than the \$5-\$20 PMPM received in primary care due to the additional complexity of the care delivered to cancer patients.⁵¹

Preliminary findings from of care and cost savings from PCOMHs have been promising. The most well-known PCOMH is pioneered by Dr. John Sprandio and his colleagues at the Consultants in Medical Oncology and Hematology (CMOH), a small physician practice outside of Philadelphia. In 2010, CMOH was the first oncology practice to be recognized by the NCQA as a level III PCMH.⁵²

Early results showed that ED visits at the practice fell by 68%, hospital admissions for chemotherapy patients fell by 51%, and length of stay fell by 21%.⁵³ These reductions are driven through promotion of care standardization and cost effective symptom management.⁵⁴ CMOH estimates that the aggregated savings to CMOH payers is approximately \$1 million per physician per year through reductions in the cost of care for the clinically vulnerable- patients that are older, chronically ill, and with multiple comorbidities. Despite signals that quality of care has improved, Sprandio suggests that the model is economically unsustainable under the current FFS without payer support.⁵⁵

"Without payer support, there will be further loss of community-based practices; costs will escalate, and the value of the delivered care will decline, thus forcing arbitrary reductions in funding without full consideration of the clinical implications."

- John Sprandio, Consultants in Medical Oncology and Hematology

Potential Opportunities and Barriers of PCOMHs for NMCC

There are several attractive aspects of the PCOMH model. Clinically, it aligns the interests of providers and engages patients to manage symptoms. It mitigates the possibility of acute events (such as an ER visit), so may decrease costs. NMCC is well positioned to implement this model because they already have in place many of the necessary quality measures (see Figure 18 that compares the current NCQA standards with suggested oncology specific goals). For example, they have a sophisticated IT infrastructure, an integrated EMR, a patient-centered culture, compliance monitoring, care coordination and follow-up processes. Although NMCC does not currently have NCQA certification as a PCMH, they appear to meet the criteria for Level III certification.

Comparison of NCQA PCMH standards and possible oncology medical home standards

NCQA Primary Care Medical Home

- Increased patient access and enhanced communication
- Patient tracking and registry functions, including reminders for preventive screenings
- Care management and adherence to nationally accepted, evidence-based standards of treatment
- Patient self-management and support as a strategy for avoidance of potential complications of treatment and disease
- Electronic prescribing and physician ordering
- Test tracking and patient compliance monitoring
- Referral tracking
- Continual performance reporting and improvement
- Advanced electronic communications, including a portal for patients and referring physicians

Patient-Centered Oncology Medical Home 56

- Streamline and standardize the process of patient evaluation in the medical oncology office
- Coordinate all aspects of cancer-related evaluations and services beyond the medical oncology office via patient navigators or nurse educators
- •Proactively promote an interdisciplinary approach to management
- Promote constant collaboration between the clinical support and treatment teams
- Stress the importance of patient education, engagement, and compliance.
- \bullet Enhance patient access via extended hours, telephone triage services, and physicians on call
- •Minimize clinically irrelevant physician activity
- •Fix accountability for care delivery at the physician-patient locus
- •Assume ownership of cancer-related needs in a highly personalized way

The fundamental barrier to adopting the PCOMH model is its validity as a sustainable payment alternative. The PMPM payment must be enough to cover the costs of the services provided that are not reimbursed through traditional FFS. NMCC must receive the PMPM upfront to continue its investment in services, staff, and enhanced hours. Currently, these costs are covered through the CMMI grant, but if the PMPM does not provide equivalent funding, NMCC might need to rethink their strategy moving forward. Data limitations and delays from CMS make it hard to establish the required PMPM, or determine how much NMCC will save the overall system if ER visits and hospitalizations are reduced. Conversely, without clear evidence that the up-front payment will lead to quality improvements that succeed in reducing overall costs of care, payers have been reluctant to agree to the additional payments.

Further, even if the technical issues facing a particular payer for NMCC can be addressed, it is unclear if any payer acting alone has enough market share to sustain the payment model. The medical home is difficult for NMCC to implement for only one payer's patients, for both technical and professional practice reasons. If only one payer implemented the payment reform, the PMPM for supporting the medical home would apply to only a fraction

27

of NMCC patients, making it difficult for NMCC to sustain the costs of maintaining medical home services and capabilities for their entire practice. While CMOH did eventually gain the support of local payers to sustain their practice in southeastern Pennsylvania, NMCC does not currently have such broad payer support in place.⁵⁷ They started early conversations with BCBS about this model, but the discussions are currently stalled due to unresolved data-sharing issues.

Oncology Accountable Care Organizations (ACO)

The oncology ACO framework introduces a shared saving model based on overall patient costs and quality of care in addition to FFS reimbursement. It builds on this alternative payment approach over time with an aim to moving more reimbursement from FFS towards a partially capitated payment for a broader range of oncology services. A group of providers are held accountable for the overall quality, cost, and care of their patient population and share the savings recouped form better coordinated, higher quality care. Early oncology ACO experiences have included specialty focused ACOs as well as oncology practices that are part of a broader, population health ACO arrangement. The high cost of cancer care and specialized nature of cancer services can create challenges in incorporating major aspects of oncology care into a population ACO model.

FFS Payment Payments for All Waste / Current Payment Drug Costs to Clinicians Other Cancer Care Inefficiency Model **Total Physician Payment** Shared Payments for All Waste / ACO Payment **FFS** Payment Saving Drug Costs Other Cancer Care Model to Clinicians Inefficiency Payment Total Cost of Cancer Care

FIGURE 19 Reduction in overall cancer costs in an ACO

Two early oncology ACO models were developed in Florida with the local BCBS health plan, Florida Blue. The first was a collaboration between Baptist Health South Florida – a large health system with eight hospitals, and Advanced Medical Specialties– a large cancer center with seven practices, and the second was with Moffitt Cancer Center– a cancer specialist hospital with over 9,000 inpatient admissions per year and over 320,000 outpatient visits. There are approximately 1,000 patients across both ACOs and the model stratifies risk by cancer type. The models consider the patient's total cost of care, not just oncology care, and bonus payments (on top of FFS) are on a per-member-per-year basis, running for one year from first diagnosis.⁵⁸

A key challenge to developing these models was defining measurements, particularly how to define and attribute cancer cases. The sharing of data between provider and payer was crucial and outside counsel was required to address these and other issues (e.g., data privacy protections). The solution reached was to consider full utilization except mental and behavioral health and utilization and spending benchmarks were developed by actuaries within Florida Blue.

The results of these models indicate early clinical successes and are on target to meet its goals of reductions in hospital admissions and readmissions, better generic drug prescribing rates, greater adherence to pathways and evidence-based protocols, and better coordinated care.⁵⁹ The financial successes are less clear and, because of variations in costs of care, are difficult to discern with high statistical confidence.

Potential Opportunities and Barriers of ACOs for NMCC

The ACO model is an unlikely choice for NMCC. The biggest integrated payer-provider system in Albuquerque, Presbyterian Healthcare Services and NMCC's largest commercial insurer, has its own, hospital-based oncology practice and was a participant in the CMS's Pioneer ACO program until 2013. Presbyterian left the Pioneer ACO program after the first year, but has continued to pursue other accountable care models outside of Medicare. The organization has not been able to reach a mutually agreeable ACO contract with NMCC.

NMCC's next biggest health plan is BCBS of New Mexico. While NMCC has begun discussions with BCBS about proof of concept for the COME HOME program, the ACO model has not been part of these discussions because NMCC is small in size and scope, and does not have clarity regarding how they could take accountability for overall patient costs.

In addition, NMCC's experience with Independent Doctors of New Mexico in 2008, which could be considered to be an early ACO-type organization, and their recent experiences with Presbyterian, have led to a cautious approach to the ACO model. They are considering providing some oncology services to a local primary-care led ACO for one patient population, but are not considering the development of their own ACO.

Bundled Payments

A bundled payment is a combined payment for a package of clinically related services in a case or episode of care, including multiple services from a particular provider or the services of multiple providers. The bundled payment may be a fixed price paid prospectively, or a benchmark that is used to adjust net payments to the providers retrospectively. It is designed to appropriately compensate clinicians for the comprehensive set of services required to meet patient's needs for the episode of care, as opposed to billing for each service separately. Bundled payments enable clinicians to redirect resources to services that are not currently compensated, and enforce accountability for the overall cost of the episode.



FIGURE 20 Reduction in overall cancer costs through implementation of a bundled payment model

There are many proposals for bundled payments in oncology, including a pilot focusing on multi-practice episodebased payment for chemotherapy drug administration (United Healthcare⁶⁰) pilots for a broader set of bundled services for specific cancer types (Fox Chase and Horizon BCBS⁶¹, and 21st Century Oncology and Humana⁶²), and a pilot for bundling radical prostatectomy for early stage patients (Mobile Surgery International and Florida Blue). Most of these pilots involve limited or partial shifts of FFS payments into episode-based payments. While CMMI is exploring bundled payment options for acute and post-acute care through the Bundled Payments for Care Improvement (BPCI) Initiative, the payment options do not include or target comprehensive cancer care.⁶³ Each of these pilots has taken a different approach to the specific services incorporated into the bundle. UnitedHealthcare recently released results of a 3-year, 5 site pilot program which enrolled 810 patients into one of bundled, prospective cancer care payments related to specific cancer stages for breast, lung, and colon cancer. (A total of 19 bundles were designed to cover various stages.) The payer reimbursed practices for all cancer chemotherapeutics at cost (no mark-up), but provided a prospective payment that covered inpatient and other care. Though drug costs rose, the overall care costs decrease by 34 percent, for a savings of \$33.36 million, or roughly \$41,000 per patient.⁶⁴

Potential Opportunities and Barriers of Bundled Payments for NMCC

NMCC has not been able to assess the extent to which it could take on accountability for the costs of a bundle of services because it does not have access to complete claims data needed. As noted above, payers have been unable or unwilling to share this information with them. Even with the data, NMCC is not certain that it has the actuarial capacity to analyze this data appropriately.

Additionally, early understanding of which patients and services do or do not fit into a bundle is challenging, especially for broader bundled payments, and would require near-to real-time monitoring across the network for providers included in the bundle. Such systems are not currently in place. Further, NMCC expressed concern that implementing a broad bundle is made even more complex by the fact that treatments are constantly developing and changing – treatments that are standard now may be quite different in a year's time. While some organizations have begun work on creating comprehensive bundled payments for cancer, only more limited bundled payment pilots like those described above are currently in operation. NMCC believes that these limited payment reforms may not be sufficient to support the major care reforms it has envisioned to achieve better outcomes and substantial savings. However, implementing an oncology medical home with supporting payment could be a basis for developing the data and systems needed to support effective implementation of bundled payment.

PART IV: RECOMMENDATIONS, LESSONS LEARNED AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

In this section, we present recommendations for feasible alternative payment options at NMCC, which may help other organizations evaluate payment reform options at their own institutions. In **Appendix A**, we include a practical tool that provides a sample cost-benefit model, and data collection and strategic planning questions to help organizations assess their capacity and business case for care redesign.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR SUSTAINING CHANGE AT NMCC

The APMs described in Part III present unique opportunities and challenges in supporting a sustainable payment strategy at NMCC. The goal is for the payment model to recover the amount of initial investment and support the COME HOME program's ongoing costs and services at full capacity.

Because no payer has a substantial market share (divided between Medicare, Presbyterian, BlueCross BlueShield, and others), payers may be reluctant to subsidize a service which could potentially be underwritten by another

payer. Of payment reform options, NMCC has been unable to contract as part of a comprehensive ACO due to local health care market conditions. Clinical pathways are geared primarily to guidelines and chemotherapy adherence, and are not designed to provide funding for after-hours care or triage programs that are intended to achieve offsetting savings through avoiding costly complications. NMCC's remaining options include:

Option 1: PCOMH with Accountability

Using the data it gathers, NMCC intends to quantify the additional costs the COME HOME model requires, and the savings that it achieves. Using that estimate, NMCC could suggest a PMPM payment from a private insurer to cover the costs of providing higher quality care. To encourage participation, NMCC could also enter into a risk-sharing agreement, in which overall costs of inpatient care and ER visits would be compared against a target. The PMPM could be at-risk if the targets are not achieved after a certain period of time. Recently CMMI signaled an interest in developing this type of model and specific details should be forthcoming in the near future.⁶⁵

Option 2: PCOMH with Accountability to Support Transition Toward Bundled Payment

While an oncology bundled payment is NMCC's long-term preferred model, an interim possibility might be to use the medical home approach with risk sharing (described above) as a first step toward a bundled payment system. Developing reasonable cost estimates would require merging claims data with clinical data (for example, ICD-9 codes fail to distinguish between subtypes of breast cancer that have radically different treatments). A limited bundled payment pilot might be performed initially for high volume cancers, such as breast and lung.

Option 3: Enhanced FFS through Public or Private Insurance

NMCC could seek to modify the existing model with enhanced FFS payments to cover after hours visits and telephone-based triage services. However, this simply adds to the FFS arrangements, and payers may be reluctant to support due to concerns that it would primarily generate additional billing rather than better care coordination, care transformation, and reductions in overall costs.

Option 4: Direct Contracting with Major Employers

Finally, given the challenges of working with payers in its market, NMCC could consider directly contracting for oncology services ("carving out") with major employers (see Figure 21 for a list of the largest local employers). There is a precedent, in which Intel has entered into an ACO-type arrangement with Presbyterian Hospital to provide medical services to employees through the group health insurance sponsored by the employer.⁶⁶ This would require collection of quality data and aggressive marketing strategies highlighting any cost, quality, and patient outcomes data to encourage adoption and strong competition.

Option 5: Commercialize the COME HOME model

Another option that NMCC has to supplement income is to commercialize the strategies and triage software developed by Dr. McAneny through the COME HOME. By turning these products into commodities and marketing their potential to help organizations achieve the triple aim, they can be sold to other providers, perhaps leading to durable source of revenue. This strategy would require further partnership with vendors, and possible additional capital infusion from investment partners. The advantage is that this strategy does not depend on payer cooperation, but the disadvantage is that (as with enhanced fee-for-service arrangements) there is little meaningful progress towards value-based payments from NMCC payers.

All of these further options present difficult challenges; as of this writing, the long-term sustainability of the NMCC reforms upon CMMI grant completion is unclear.

FIGURE 21 Top Ten Employers in New Mexico, 2011

RANK	ORGANIZATION	CITY	FTE
1	State of New Mexico (statewide)	Santa Fe	21,832
2	UNM (statewide)	Albuquerque	20,042
3	New Mexico State University (statewide)	Las Cruces	12,737
4	CNM	Albuquerque	11,777
5	Albuquerque Public Schools	Albuquerque	11,500
6	Sandia National Laboratories	Albuquerque	10,560
7	Presbyterian Healthcare Services	Albuquerque	9,500
8	Los Alamos National Laboratories	Los Alamos	7,949
9	City of Albuquerque	Albuquerque	6,940
10	White Sands Missile Range	White Sands	6,636

Source: NewMexicoNetLinks, Largest Employers in New Mexico⁶⁷

LESSONS LEARNED FOR TRANSFORMING CARE AND TRANSITIONING TO NEW PAYMENT MODELS

The experience of innovative pioneers like NMCC can shed some light on potential barriers to conceptualizing and implementing sustainable clinical redesign. The lessons learned have been sorted into three main categories: relationships with payers and networks, payment model selection, and data collection and quality improvement.

Relationships with Payers and Network

NMCC's experience illustrates that a prolonged commitment to demonstrating significant value from care redesign, particularly from lower utilization of inpatient and emergency department utilization, does not automatically create a financial pathway for sustainable delivery reform. Innovative providers that seek to reform care should consider a sustainability path from the start. This might include involving lead payer partners early on to help identify end-points of interest to payers and potential payment alternatives to FFS that could support these reforms.

Providing support for health care delivery reforms requires new activities by payers towards sharing data in new ways to enable care improvements to be prioritized and implemented, and aligning their payments with value, rather than volume and intensity of services. However, fragmented health care markets face challenges of the "free rider" problem (that is, payers may be unwilling to shoulder delivery transformation costs that may benefit other payers' clients, and wait for CMS or others to make the financial investment, pay for the program evaluation, and enact policy change), payer inertia, and long lag times between care redesign and subsequent data demonstrating results.

Large ACOs and other integrated payer provider plans, including those large enough to form Medicare Advantage plans, are moving forward on negotiating payment and delivery reforms. This may be more difficult for innovative, smaller practices, even if they can provide higher value clinical services. However, reliance on very large providers may have anti-competitive consequences, such as discouraging delivery innovation that leads to "demand destruction" of high cost hospital-based services.

For this reason, private and public payers should be particularly interested in developing models that enable smaller, specialized providers like oncology practices to undertake key delivery reforms. Such specialty-specific payment models should be a high priority for CMS and regional or national collaborations on payment reform involving multiple private payers.

Payment Model Selection

While substantial attention has been paid to primary care focused APMs, specialty-focused APMs are needed for practices like NMCC. Their development should be a high priority for public and private payers.

Clinical transformation grants, such as those offered by CMMI, should include clear pathways for transitioning to APMs if initial quality improvement and cost savings targets are met. Otherwise, delivery system innovations are at high risk of failure despite evidence of improved value. Another approach to help assure sustainability is for grants to require evidence of early payer engagement with delivery transformation efforts, and early implementation of key steps like the use of standard measures that could be a basis for APMs. Organizations such as ASCO have offered policy solutions for payment reform which could apply to both public and private payers as well incorporating elements of bundled/episodic payments.⁶⁸ These or other models now being implemented could provide a good foundation for "best practices" for smaller practices and payers to use to implement delivery and payment reforms at a much lower cost.

Current oncology payers do not, as a rule, economically encourage strong beneficiary engagement as activated members of the care team, other than by requiring co-payment for emergency room care. Ideally, benefit design might also allow shared savings for beneficiaries for active participation in care or for seeking "right care in the place at the right time."

Data Collection and Quality Improvement Considerations

Timely sharing of actionable information from claims and other administrative data remains a major challenge, with complex and varied procedures for obtaining claims from payers, and challenges especially for smaller practices in interpreting the claims data. Some states, such as Maryland, Massachusetts, Vermont, and Colorado are proceeding with creating all-payer claims databases.⁶⁹ Maryland, for example, offers rapid provider feedback on some key information for patient management from claims through their CRISP database.⁷⁰ Others, such as Minnesota, are using "distributed" approaches in which multiple payers and systems produce measures in consistent ways. Payers could also provide such data to innovative practices directly, to build trust and provide a needed foundation for payment and delivery reform.

In addition to producing performance measures from claims data, more progress is necessary to provide timely and actionable data to enable practices to improve performance. As NMCC's early efforts illustrate, practices can produce more clinically sophisticated performance measures using the same clinical support systems that enable improved patient care. Strategies for getting to consistent methods for sharing key data on cost and quality need to be expanded to encourage quality improvement and payment reform.

Conclusion

Unfortunately those at the leading edge of change in the last decade are not necessarily in the position to benefit most from payment reform – they've already done a lot and there is relatively little low-hanging fruit – payers don't want to have pay for changes already made. In fact, diminishing returns to quality improvement activities may actually be less costly for providers at a low baseline level or performance that for one at a high level to improve quality.⁷¹ This means that providers who have either not engaged in significant delivery reform or those whose prices are already far above market averages stand to benefit the most from shared-saving arrangements, which tend to penalize those who already work efficiently. It also means that providers with high quality and low baseline costs must work that much harder if incentives are based on quality improvement as opposed to absolute quality.

APPENDIX A: A MODEL FOR APPLYING REFORM TO YOUR OWN ORGANIZATION

Care redesign is complicated task that requires a great deal of exploratory evaluation to identify priorities, feasibility, and sustainability. When administrators, clinicians, and other stakeholders are deciding whether or not to pursue care redesign they need have a robust understanding of how it will change the financial inflows and outflows of business activities. For example, extending clinic hours might cost a practice additional employee salary costs, but will decrease hospitalization costs because patients could walk into the clinic instead of the ER. A more fundamental question is how the totality of upfront redesign costs can be financed—a per member per month contribution, a bundle payment, etc. Figure 1 below is a starting point for clinical leaders working through the complex process of sustainable care redesign. It is a model that organizations can use when having conversations with payers about the costs and possible savings associated with the care redesign initiatives.

The left side of this simple and sample cost-benefit model accounts for the major upfront costs associated with the three year care redesign program and the its annual running costs—staff required to coordinate between the redesign program and normal business operations, for example. The right side of the model captures the ER and hospitalization costs the program seeks to reduce over the 3 years. These costs are then used to calculate total savings the redesign program. Those savings can then be used to fund the care redesign and incentives stakeholder buy-in.

Total startup cost for a care redesign might range from hundreds of thousands to the millions. Analyzing the relevant costing associated with care redesign, whether it be developing a clinical pathway or accounting for the retraining of clinical and administrative staff, is a critical step to ensure sustainability and feasibility.

Before this model can realistically be built, however, an organization must gather some basic data to assist in making the business case to a payer of why they should invest in your program. The questions in Figure 2 will help a practice obtain an understanding of baseline costs and a rigorous estimate of additional costs and savings will help frame and guide negotiations with payers.

FIGURE 1 Sample Cost-Benefit Model

Upfront Care Redesign Costs		Average Cost Of ER Visits	
Program and clinical staff	\$600,000	Cost of ER Visit	\$1,200
Clinical pathways development	\$2,000,000	Annual rate of ER visits per 10,000	4000
Technology	\$175,000	Total Annual ER Costs	\$4,800,000
Extended hours clinic	\$100,000		
Total Upfront Costs	\$2,875,000	Average Cost of Hospitalization	
		Per diem cost of hospitalization	\$2,000
Annual Redesign Running Costs	\$1,142,857	Average length of hospital stay	4.8
		Cost of hospitalization	\$9,600
TOTAL PROGRAM COST OVER 3 YEARS	\$6,303,571	Annual rate of hospitalization per 10000	1130
		Total Annual Hospitalization Cost	\$10,848,000

NOTES: Note: The upfront care redesign cost estimates come from the COME HOME grant cost categories, and are adjusted based on the number of clinics grant monies were distributed to, among other factors. The annual redesign running costs are an approximation based on NMCC's COME HOME total amount and scaled to a practice size of 10,000. The benefits—cost of ED visit, hospitalization costs, days spent in hospital, and total ED visits and hospitalizations—are national averages from the CDC and Kaiser Family Foundation.

Average Cost of Hospitalization	
Per diem cost of hospitalization	\$2,000
Average length of hospital stay	4.8
Cost of hospitalization	\$9,600
Annual rate of hospitalization per 10000	1130
Total Annual Hospitalization Cost	\$10,848,000
Total Cost Over 3 Years	\$46,944,000
Savings Over 3 Years From:	
20% reduction in ER visits (noncompound)	\$2,880,000
30% reduction in hospitalization (noncompount)	\$9,763,200
TOTAL PROGRAM SAVINGS OVER 3 YEARS	\$12,643,200

FIGURE 2 Sample Business Case Questions for Organizations

Care Redesign	Questions	Data Source
Market Analysis		
Patient Demographics and Services	Can the care redesign (clinical pathways, etc.) be applied across my entire patient population regardless of disease type or will the redesign need to be stratified by risk or other measure?	Strategic planning
	What is the average cost per patient over a 30, 90, 180 day window?	Charge data
	Which patients are most at risk to be hospitalized/visit the ER?	Risk stratification using claims data and patient records
	At what rate is the population I serve hospitalized/visiting the ER?	Claims data
	How much does an average hospitalization/ER visit cost? How much of that care could have been provided in a different setting?	Charge data
	What is the average length of stay?	Claims data, patient records
Payer Market and Costs	What are your patient payer demographics (i.e. Medicare, Medicaid, IHS, private payer)?	Claims data
	What current costs are not adequately covered by payers?	Budget analysis
	How much do costs vary between payers and is care redesign sensitive of that variance?	Claims data
	What is the relationship with the local hospital? How can services be coordinated to reduce service duplicated and ensure proper coordination?	Strategic planning
Care Redesign Framework	Questions	
Site of Care Reforms	Will newer technologies (electronic health records, smart devices, automated telephone systems, etc.) be required to service patients? How much will this cost?	Estimate from EHR provider
Reforms	Will newer technologies (electronic health records, smart devices, automated telephone systems, etc.) be required to service patients? How much will this cost?	Estimate from EHR provider
	Will any services be consolidated into one location?	Claims data
	Will the physical building need to be upgraded? How much does that cost?	Contractor estimate
	How much of the redesign startup costs will not be reimbursed?	Strategic planning
	Will the redesign change medical supply costs?	Claims data
	Will the redesign change my hours of operation and therefore change the cost of rent and utilities?	Building estimate
Team Approaches to Care	Will care redesign shift employee responsibilities? Will you need to retrain or hire new administrative, program, or clinical staff?	Employee capacity and salary data
	How do the number of staff hours and rates change based on providing extended hours?	Salary data
	How will a phone triage system impact the volume of care delivered or diverted?	Claims forecasting
	How much additional patient education will be provided? What are the costs for materials, staff time, etc?	Materials costs and salary data
Improved Decision Support	How much does it cost to develop a clinical pathway program (reimbursement for physicians, database support, technology costs)?	Salary data, technology costs
	How often does the pathway need to get updated?	Strategic planning
	How will your revenue/operating costs change given new clinical pathways that change the volume of services (PET, CT, mammography, etc.) provided?	Claims data
	How do pathways impact the pharmacy costs and how does that impact the margin earned on drug costs?	Drug cost data
Collecting and Using Data	How much does the EMR cost to implement?	Estimate from EMR company
	How much are monthly or yearly update/maintain fees for the EMR?	Estimate from EMR company
	How much does it cost to train your staff on the EMR?	Salary data
	Do I need to hire support to analyze claims and other data?	Salary estimate
	How will you evaluate your clinical and financial models? Do you need to outsource this?	Strategic planning

REFERENCES

- ¹ American Cancer Society. (2013). Cancer facts and figures 2014. Retrieved from http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@research/documents/webcontent/acspc-042151.pdf
- ² Jemal, A., Tiwari , R. C., Murray, T., Ghafoor , A., Samuels, A., & Ward, E., et al. (2004). Cancer statistics, 2004. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicans, 54(1), 8-29. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14974761
- ³ Mariotto, A. B., Yabroff, K. R., Shao, Y., Feuer, E. J., & Brown, M. L. (2011). Projections of the cost of cancer care in the United States: 2010-2020. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 103(2), 117-28. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq495
- ⁴ Stockdale, H., & Guillory, K. (2013). Lifeline: why cancer patients depend on Medicare for critical coverage. Retrieved from Cancer Action Network, American Cancer Society website: <u>http://www.acscan.org/content/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/2013-Medicare-Chartbook-Online-Version.pdf</u>
- ⁵ Gawande, A. (2009). The checklist manifesto: How to get things right. New York: Metropolitan, p. 22.
- ⁶ Bekelman, J. E., Kim, M., & Emanuel, E. J. (2013). Toward accountable cancer care. *Journal of the American Medical Association Internal Medicine*, 173(11), 958–959. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.635
- ⁷ Levit, L. A., Balogh, E. P., Nass, S. J., & Ganz, P. A. (2013). Delivering high-quality cancer care: Charting a new course for a system in crisis. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine.
- ⁸ Ganz, P. A. (2013). Charting a new course for the delivery of high-quality cancer care. Journal of *Clinical Oncology, 31*(36), 4485-4487. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2013.53.7993
- ⁹ Barr, T., & Towle, E. L. (2011). National Oncology Practice Benchmark, 2011 Report on 2010 Data. Retrieved from American Society of Clinical Oncology website: <u>http://jop.ascopubs.org/content/7/65/67s.full.pdf</u>
- ¹⁰ Mariotto, A. B., Yabroff, K. R., Shao, Y., Feuer, E. J., & Brown, M. L. (2011). Projections of the cost of cancer care in the United States: 2010-2020. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 103(2), 117-28. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq495
- ¹¹ Kolodziej, M., Hoverman, J. R., Garey, J. G., Espirito, J., Sheth, S., & Ginsburg, A., et al. (2011). Benchmarks for value in cancer care: an analysis of a large commercial population. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 7(5), 301–306. doi:10.1200/JOP.2011.000394

12 Ibid

- ¹³ Eagle, D. (2012, October 23). The cost of cancer care: Part I. CancerNetwork, 1-2. Retrieved from http://www.cancernetwork.com/practice-policy/cost-cancer-care-part-i/page/0/2
- ¹⁴ Dusetzina, S. B., Winn, A. N., Abel, G. A., Huskamp, H. A., & Keating, N. L. (2013). Cost sharing and adherence to tyrosine kinase inhibitors for patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.52.9123
- ¹⁵ National Cancer Institute. (2011). SEER Stat Fact Sheets: All Cancer Sites. Retrieved July 18, 2014, from http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/all.html
- ¹⁶ Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). *National program of cancer registries: United State cancer statistics*. Retrieved July 18, 2014, from http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/uscs/cancersbyraceandethnicity.aspx
- ¹⁷ Kolodziej, M., Hoverman, J. R., Garey, J. G., Espirito, J., Sheth, S., & Ginsburg, A., et al. (2011). Benchmarks for value in cancer care: an analysis of a large commercial population. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 7(5), 301–306. doi:10.1200/JOP.2011.000394
- ¹⁸ Mariotto, A. B., Yabroff, K. R., Shao, Y., Feuer, E. J., & Brown, M. L. (2011). Projections of the cost of cancer care in the United States: 2010-2020. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 103(2), 117-28. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq495
- ¹⁹ National Cancer Institute. (2011). Browse the SEER Cancer Statistics Review 1975-2011. Retrieved July 18, 2014, from http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2011/browse_csr.php?sectionSEL=2&pageSEL=sect_02_table.08.html
- ²⁰ Dusetzina, S. B., Winn, A. N., Abel, G. A., Huskamp, H. A., & Keating, N. L. (2013). Cost sharing and adherence to tyrosine kinase inhibitors for patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.52.9123
- ²¹ Herper, M. (2013, August 11). How much does pharmaceutical innovation cost? a look at 100 companies. Forbes. Retrieved from http://www.forbes.com/sites/matthewherper/2013/08/11/the-cost-of-inventing-a-new-drug-98-companies-ranked/
- ²² Goozner, M. (2012, January 23). High cost of new cancer drugs sparks new care struggle. *The Fiscal Times*. Retrieved from http://www.kaiserhealthnews.org/stories/2012/january/23/fiscal-times-cancer-drugs-affordable.aspx
- ²³ Fitch, K., Iwasaki, K., & Pyenson, B. (2013). Comparing episode of cancer care costs in different settings: an actuarial analysis of patients receiving chemotherapy. Retrieved from Milliman website: <u>http://www.communityoncology.org/UserFiles/Milliman_SiteCostofCancerStudy_2013.pdf</u>
- ²⁴ Brooks, Abrams, Meyerhardt, Enzinger, Sommer, Dalby, et al. (2014). Identification of potentially avoidable hospitalizations in patients with GI cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 32(6), 496-503. doi:10.1200/JCO.2013.52.4330
- ²⁵ Neubauer, M. A., Hoverman, J. R., Kolodziej, M., Reisman, L., Gruschkus, S. K., & Hoang, S. (2010). Cost effectiveness of evidence-based treatment guidelines for the treatment of non–small-cell lung cancer in the community setting. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 6(1), 12-18. doi: 10.1200/JOP.091058
- ²⁶ Stewart, B. A., Fernandes, S., Rodriguez-Huertas, E., & Landzberg, M. (2010). A preliminary look at duplicate testing associated with lack of electronic health record interoperability for transferred patients. *Journal of the American Medical Information Association*, 17, 341-344. doi:10.1136/jamia.2009.001750
- ²⁷ Lee, J., & Johnson, S. R. (2013, September 14). 'Fragmented' cancer care System is 'chaotic, costly,' IOM report says. Modern Healthcare. Retrieved from http://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20130914/MAGAZINE/309149976
- 28 Welch, H. G., & Black, W. C. (2010). Overdiagnosis in cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 201(9), 605–613. doi:10.1093/jnci/djq099

- ²⁹ Yu, J. B., Soulos, P. R., Herrin, J., Cramer, L. D., & Potosky, A. L. (2010). Proton versus intensity-modulated radiotherapy for prostate cancer: patterns of care and early toxicity. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 105(1), 25-32. doi:10.1093/jnci/djs463
- ³⁰ American Cancer Society. (2012). Cancer prevention and early detection: facts and figures. Retrieved from http://www.cancer.org/acs/groups/content/@epidemiologysurveilance/documents/document/acspc-037535.pdf
- ³¹ Brooks, Abrams, Meyerhardt, Enzinger, Sommer, Dalby, et al. (2014). Identification of potentially avoidable hospitalizations in patients with GI cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 32(6), 496-503. doi:10.1200/ JCO.2013.52.4330
- ³² American Society of Clinical Oncology. (2013, January 27). Oncology practice: Front and center in national payment reform debate. Retrieved July 22, 2014, from http://www.asco.org/advocacy/oncology-practice-front-and-center-national-payment-reform-debate
- ³³ Bryson, J. M. (2004). What to do when stakeholders matter: Stakeholder identification and analysis technique. *Journal of Public Management Review, 6*(1), 21-53.
- ³⁴ Jacobson, J. O., Neuss, M., & Hauser, R. (2012). Measuring and improving value of care in oncology practices: ASCO programs from quality oncology practice initiative to the rapid learning system. In *Improving Value of Care in Oncology*. American Society of Clinical Oncology.
- ³⁵ American Society of Clinical Oncology. (2014). The state of cancer care in America: 2014. Retrieved from http://www.asco.org/sites/www.asco.org/files/cancerinamerica2014-lowres_1.pdf
- ³⁶ Clancy, C. (2013). 2013 market overview: Albuquerque. Retrieved from HealthLeaders InterStudy website: http://issuu.com/premiercs/docs/albuquerque_nm_2013_market_overview/1
- ³⁷ White, C., Felland, L. E., Boukus, E. R., & Draper, K. (2013). Competitive Albuquerque health insurance market gears up for coverage boom. Retrieved from Robert Woods Johnson Foundation website: <u>http://www.hschange.org/CONTENT/1390/</u>
- ³⁸ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). About the CMS Innovation Center | Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation. Retrieved July 20, 2014, from http://innovation.cms.gov/About/index.html
- ³⁹ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). *Health Care Innovation Awards*. Retrieved July 20, 2014, from http://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/Health-Care-Innovation-Awards/
- ⁴⁰ Innovative cancer care and the initiation of the COME HOME medical home program. (2013, December). OBR Green. Retrieved from http://obroncology.com/obrgreen/article/Innovative-Cancer-Care-and-the-Initiation-of-the-COME-HOME-Medical-Home-Program
- ⁴¹ McAneney, B.Retrieved July 21, 2014, from <u>www.wsmos.org/assets/McAneney%20Slides.pptx</u>
- ⁴² The oncology medical home: An oncology nurse's dream. (2014, Spring). *Puget Sound Quarterly: Oncology Nursing Society, 37*(1). Retrieved from http://psons.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/PSQuarterlySpring14.pdf
- ⁴³ McCleery, J. (2013, December). Innovative cancer care and the initiation of the COME HOME Medical Home program. *OBRGreen*, 7(11). Retrieved from http://obroncology.com/obrgreen/article/Innovative-Cancer-Care-and-the-Initiation-of-the-COME-HOME-Medical-Home-Program
- ⁴⁴ The Moran Company. (2013). Cost differences in cancer care across settings. Retrieved from http://www.communityoncology.org/UserFiles/Moran_Cost_Site_Differences_Study_P2.pdf
- ⁴⁵ Sullivan, W. J. (2012, June). Demystifying pathways in oncology. *Managed Care*. Retrieved from http://www.managedcaremag.com/archives/1206/1206.oncologypathways.html
- ⁴⁶ New Mexico Cancer Center staff. (2014, May 7). Interview by Darshak Sanghavi [Personal Interview].Clinical improvements.
- 47 Ibid
- ⁴⁸ Oncology Medical Home. (2013, June 25). Patient Satisfaction. Retrieved July 20, 2014, from http://www.medicalhomeoncology.org/coa/patient-satisfaction.htm
- ⁴⁹ Fitch, K., Iwasaki, K., & Pyenson, B. (2013). Comparing episode of cancer care costs in different settings: an actuarial analysis of patients receiving chemotherapy. Retrieved from Milliman website: <u>http://www.communityoncology.org/UserFiles/Milliman_SiteCostofCancerStudy_2013.pdf</u>
- ⁵⁰ Mathews, A. W. (2014, May 27). Insurers push to rein in spending on cancer care. *Wall Street Journal*. Retrieved from http://online.wsj.com/articles/insurer-to-reward-cancer-doctors-for-adhering-to-regimens-1401220033
- ⁵¹ McClellan, M., Patel, K., O'Shea, J., Nadel, J., Thoumi, A., & Tobin, J. (2013). Specialty payment model opportunities assessment and design: environmental ccan for oncology (task 2), final version. Retrieved from The Brookings Institution and MITRE website: http://www2.mitre.org/public/payment_models/Brookings_Oncology_TEP_Environ_Scan.pdf
- ⁵² Conway, L. (2012). The Advisory Board Company Good call: Oncology practice's phone triage curbs ED visits. Retrieved July 21, 2014, from http://www.advisory.com/research/oncology-roundtable/expert-insights/2012/good-call-oncology-practices-phone-triage-curbs-ed-visits
- ⁵³ Sprandio, J. D. (2012). Oncology patient-centered medical home. Journal of Oncology Practice, 8(3), 47s-49s. doi:10.1200/JOP.2012.000590
- ⁵⁴ McClellan, M., Patel, K., O'Shea, J., Nadel, J., Thoumi, A., & Tobin, J. (2013). Specialty payment model opportunities assessment and design: environmental ccan for oncology (task 2), final version. Retrieved from The Brookings Institution and MITRE website: http://www2.mitre.org/public/payment_models/Brookings_Oncology_TEP_Environ_Scan.pdf
- 55 Sprandio, J. D. (2012). Oncology patient-centered medical home. Journal of Oncology Practice, 8(3), 47s-49s. doi:10.1200/JOP.2012.000590
- ⁵⁶ Sprandio, J. D. (2010). Oncology patient-centered medical home and accountable cancer care. *Community Oncology*, 7(12). Retrieved from http://pop.pcpcc.net/files/oncology_medical_home.pdf

- ⁵⁷ Butcher, L. (2012, December 10). NCQA plans patient-centered oncology demonstration. Oncology Times, 34(23), 12-14. Retrieved from http://journals.lww.com/oncology-times/Fulltext/2012/12100/NCQA_Plans_Patient_Centered_Oncology_Demonstration.2.aspx
- 58 Haasis, B., & Parzik, R [Florida Blues]. (2014, June 3). Interview by Darshak Sanghavi [Personal interview] Paying for cancer care.
- ⁵⁹ Edlin, M. (2014, January 1). Oncology ACOs offer innovation for high-cost populations. *Managed Healthcare Executive*. Retrieved from http://managedhealthcareexecutive.modernmedicine.com/managed-healthcare-executive/news/oncology-acos-offer-innovation-high-cost-populations?cont <a href="http://extended.
- ⁶⁰ Newcomer, L. (2011, December). Interview by J Marcille [Personal Interview]. A conversation with lee newcomer. mha: Payments with purpose. Managed care. Retrieved from http://www.managedcaremag.com/content/conversation-lee-n-newcomer-md-mha-payments-purpose
- ⁶¹ Peskin, S., Sobczak, M. (2013). Innovative cancer care initiative #3: Transitioning to risk-episodes and bundles. Powerpoint presentation and panel discussion at 2013 Cancer Center Business Summit, Transforming Oncology Through Innovation. <u>http://www.cancerbusinesssummit.com/presentations/Thursday/245PMICCI3TransitioningtoRiskFINAL.pptx</u>
- ⁶² Bandell, B. (2011, April 8). Blue Cross signs first bundled payment deal with Miami firm. *South Florida Business Journal*. Retrieved from http://www.bizjournals.com/southflorida/print-edition/2011/04/08/blue-cross-signs-first-bundled.html?page=al
- ⁶³ Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Department of Health and Human Services. (n.d.). Bundled payments for care improvement (BPCI) initiative: general information. Retrieved July 21, 2014, from http://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/
- ⁶⁴ Newcomer, L. N., Gould, B., Page, R. D., Donelan, S. A., & Perkins, M. (2014). Changing physician incentives for affordable, quality Cancer Care: Results of an episode payment model. *Journal of Oncology Practice*. doi:10.1200/JOP.2014.001488
- ⁶⁵ McClellan, M., Patel, K., O'Shea, J., Nadel, J., Thoumi, A., & Tobin, J. (2013). Specialty payment model opportunities assessment and design: environmental ccan for oncology (task 2), final version. Retrieved from The Brookings Institution and MITRE website: http://www2.mitre.org/public/payment_models/Brookings_Oncology_TEP_Environ_Scan.pdf
- ⁶⁶ DeVore, D. L., Wilson, B., & Parsons, J. J. (n.d.). Employer-led innovation for healthcare delivery and payment reform. Retrieved July 21, 2014, from http://www.intel.com/content/www/us/en/healthcare-it/healthcare-presbyterian-healthcare-services-whitepaper.html
- ⁶⁷ Sacco, S. (2011, January 11). Largest employers in New Mexico (with 150 or more FTEs). Retrieved July 21, 2014, from http://nmnetlinks.com/cms/kunde/rts/nmnetlinkscom/docs/1044065435-01-19-2011-18-16-39/xls_upload.htm
- ⁶⁸ American Society of Clinical Oncology. (2014). Consolidated payments for oncology care: Payment reform to support patient-centered care for cancer. Retrieved from <u>http://www.asco.org/sites/www.asco.org/files/consolidatedpaymentsforoncologycare_public_comment_06.20.14.pdf</u>
- ⁶⁹ Green, L., Lischko, A., & Bernstein, T. (2014). Realizing the potential of all-payer claims databases: Creating the reporting plan. Retrieved from Robert Wood Johnson Foundation website: <u>http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue_briefs/2014/rwjf409989</u>
- ⁷⁰ Chesapeake Regional Information System for Our Patients. (n.d.). *CRISP: prepare for the future of healthcare.* Retrieved July 21, 2014, from http://crisphealth.org/
- ⁷¹ George, M., & Sanghavi, D. (2014, June 3). Advancing care for vulnerable newborns: The role of regional collaboratives [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.brookings.edu/blogs/up-front/posts/2014/06/03-premature-nicu-infant-mortality-sanghavi

About the Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform at BROOKINGS

Established in 2007, the Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform at Brookings is dedicated to providing practical solutions to achieve high-quality, innovative, affordable health care. To achieve its mission, the Center conducts research; develops and disseminates policy recommendations; and provides technical expertise to test and evaluate innovative health care solutions. The Center's activities fall within the Health Care Innovation and Value Initiative, and align with our focus areas: delivery system reform; financing and physician payment reform; biomedical innovation; and public health.

The Dr. Richard Merkin Initiative on Payment Reform and Clinical Leadership

The Engelberg Center's Merkin Initiative is a national, mission-driven effort to engage physicians in current payment and delivery reform efforts and to help foster leadership and advocacy skills. As frontline decision-makers who directly influence the delivery and quality of care, clinicians have an important role to play in driving payment and delivery system reforms that move the U.S. toward a high-value health care system. Yet, many clinicians feel disengaged from critical policy discussions or efforts to transform clinical care.



The MEDTalk event series present clinician-led experiences in transforming health care, particularly clinical innovations that are tied to payment reform. Using a case study format, each event will focus on a specific illness or medical condition, and profile specific strategies and techniques used in the field. The series is designed to appeal to clinicians, health care administrators, and policy makers, and will incorporate cases from across a variety of settings, including large academic medical centers, integrated health systems, community health centers, and small community practices.